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1. Name
historic Belt, J. A., Building
and/or common Belt, J. A., Building

2. Location

street & number 227 East Diamond Avenue n/a not for publication
city, town Gaithersburg n/a yicinity of congressional district Ninth
state Maryland (oq4e 24 county Montgomery code 031
- - -
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
____district __ public —___occupied ____ agriculture . MUSEUM
_X building(s) X private X unoccupied —__ commercial — park
- structure . both —— work in progress — educational —_ private residence
____ site Public Acquisition Accessible - entertainment ___religious
— object ____in process ____yes:restricted . government ____ scientific
____ being considered _X_ vyes: unrestricted ____industrial transportation

X not applicable_ po —___ military X _other: vacant

4. Owner of Property

Bruce A. Hendricks

name

11844 Beekman Place

street & number -

Potomac n/a Maryland 20854

city, town ‘ —__ vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Montgomery County Courthouse

street & number 50 Courthouse Square

city, town : Rockville state

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Maryland Historical Trust

Maryland 20850

title Historic Sites Inventory has this property been determined elegible? ____yes _X_ no
date January 1984 ___federal X __state ___county ___ local
depository for survey records Maryland Historical Trust, 21 State Circle

Annapolis Maryland 21401

city, town state
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The John A. Belt Building stands on the southwest corner of
Fast Diamond and Summit Avenues, the main intersection of the
early commercial district. The present building was constructeq in
1903 to replace an 1889 structure which had been destroyed by fire;
the present building may incorporate elements of the earlier structure.
The main two-story rectangular brick building is four bays wide
by two bays deep. The principal (north) facade has threg %arge
plate-glass display-type windows on the first story. Originally,
the window space in the left (easternmost bay contained a double
1/1 sash window; set off by a quoined and paneled brick pilaster.
This portion of the building is expressed almost as a separate
entity. The remaining three bays hold a storefront. The second
bay from the right contains a recessed entrance with double doors.
There are display windows on either side of the entrance. Above
all windows and the entrance are diamond-paned leaded glass windows.
The area above the left bay display window is distinct from the
other three bays in that the leaded glass is arched, whereas the
other leaded glass areas are straight-topped. The four bays of
the second-floor alternate between single and paired double-hung
sash windows. Each opening is topped by a slightly projected
splayed brick arch with projecting keystones.

The two-bay-wide first-floor east elevation contains a single
door in the right bay topped with a transom the same dimension as
the upper half of a single double-hung window. Originally, this
opening appears to have contained a Queen Ann-type glass with small
multi-colored panels around its periphery. The left bay contains
a single 1/1 window which also originally contained a Queen-Anne-
type window in the upper sash. The second-floor east elevation
contains a 1/1 sash window in each bay. There are slightly projected
splayed brick arches with projecting keystones above each opening
on the first and second floors.

On the north facade, there are three slightly projected brick
pilasters with ten recessed courses spaced five rows apart which
create an illusion of classical quoins. The pilasters extend to
the entablature; however, at the second-floor level, the simulated
quoins are replaced by long rectangular recessed panels. Capping
-each of the three pilasters is a square recessed panel. The overall
effect is that of columns which add to massiveness of the building.
These pilasters occur on all corners of the building, and between
the east bay and the storefront on the north facade. There are
square recessed panels under each window between the first and second
floors, except above the storefront, where an awning was originally
attached.

See Continuation Sheet No. 2
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. - GENERAL DESCRIPTION (continued)

There is a brick water table approximately 18 inches from
ground level on all elevation. The brick is laid in common bond.

The main building is flat-roofed. There is a wide three-part
entablature with brick dentil course and a sculptured pressed-
metal parapet. There are four evenly spaced square, recessed
panels in the parapet on the north facade which project slightly

above the main parapet line. In the center of the east elevation
parapet is a raised half-lunet inscribed "1903" and underneath,
"J. A. Belt."

Extending from the rear corner of the east elevation is a
two-story flat-roofed brick section, four bays wide. The roofline
is parallel to the brick course just below the entablature on the
main building. There is a small, square window located in each of
the four bays and situated between the first and second stories.
Originally, these appear to have contained Queen Anne-type decorative
glass panes. On the second floor of the east facade of the rear
section are four double-hung sash windows, one in each bay. There
are small splayed brick arches with keystones above all openings.
A one-brick projecting string course runs above the second-floor
windows, even with the top of the upper sash. The west facade 1is
treated similarly, extending a full depth of six bays from the
corner of the pressed-brick north facade.

There is a later brick shed-roofed addition located in the
rear of the building on the southeast corner.

The interior of the building retains few, if any, of its
original architectural elements due to the many changes of use
and renovations it has undergone. Neither original floors, ceilings
surrounds nor walls are visible.
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Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

~~ ___prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric __ community planning ___ landscape architecture____ religion

' —1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic — conservation — law - science
—1500-1598 ____ agriculture - economics . — literature — sculpture
___1600-1699 _X architecture - education — military . social/
—1700-1789 ____ art . engineering — inusic humanitarian

1800-1899 _X commerce , . exploration/settlement _ philosophy — theater

E 1900- — communications — . industry - politics/government ____ transportation
o —— invention . other (specify)
Specific dates 1903 Builder/Architect unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Applicable Criteria: B, C

Applicable Exceptions: mnone

Level of Significance a
for evaluation: 1local

SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY:’

The J. A. Belt Building is significant for its association with
John A.Belt, a well-known and substantial entrepreneur in Montgomery
County in the late 19th and early 20th century. Belt had established
a store in Gaithersburg by 1879; over the next 25 years, Belt was
influential in many areas of the city's civic, commercial, and
cultural affairs. He served two terms as Postmaster and also as a
member of the Board of Commissioners; was a leading exponent of the
o~ 1888 extension of the city's corporate limits to double their former
area; provided library, stage, and meeting facilities for the use of
city residents; and endowed the construction of a Masonic Lodge.
The Belt Building derives additional significance from its archi-
tecture, which expresses the prominence of its owner in the rich
detailing of its pressed-brick facades. When constructed, the
building was the most ornate and substantial commercial structure
in Gaithersburg; today it remains the only substantially unaltered
early 20th century commercial building in the city's business
district, which is predominantly characterized by buildings of
more recent date and severely compromised integrity. The richly
ornamented brickwork of the Belt Building, incorporating pilasters,
quoins, corbeling, paneling, splayed and keystoned arches and a
molded and dentiled cornice, is especially noteworthy, as are the
leaded-glass transoms above the storefront and first-floor windows
on the principal facade. .

For History and Supporting Documentation, see Continuation Sheet No. 3
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT:

John A. Belt is first recorded as a merchant in Gaithersburg in
Montgomery County Sentinel, April 18, 1879, reporting a robbery.at
his Gaithersburg Store. The location of the store referred to is
unknown. In 1889, Belt erected a new store building, apparently in
the same location as the present brick structure according to City
land records. However, this structure was destroyed by fire at the
turn of the 20th century. The present structure, completed in 1903,
may incorporate elements of the 1889 building.

Mr. Belt was not only a prosperous merchant, but a public
spirited citizen as well, serving as postmaster from 1885-1890 and
again from 1893-1897, and twice as elected member of the town's
Board of Commissioners from 1890 to 1894.

In 1888, he was a leading proponent of expanding the town's
boundaries which, when accomplished, almost doubled the size of
Gaitherburg.

Ironically, in 1893, Mr. Belt helped to establish the first
volunteer fire organization in Gaithersburg only to lose his store
building to fire in 1903. This led to the construction of the
existing brick structure. The building, with its elegant brick
work and parapet, is as imposing a structure now as it was then in
the townscape of downtown Gaithersburg. It combined delicate
Victorian diamond-paned leaded glass windows with massive projecting
brick pilasters with quoins. These pilasters lighten on the second
floor by the use of vertical recessed panels.

The visual effect is to bring the eye upwards to the elaborate
entablature with its brick dentil molding and pressed-metal parapet.

The building facade has remained virtually unchanged during the
past 80 years. It has housed the Gaitherburg Post Office, the first
Pontiac car dealership in Gaithersburg in 1928, and numerous
commercial establishments, and is still considered by the downtown
merchants to be the key structure of the commercial area..

John A. Belt was born on May 29, 1851, in Three Springs,
Montgomery County, Maryland, and died at the age of 74 in 1925. In
1872, aged 21, he opened a store in Beallsville, Maryland, which he
operated until 1878 when he was succeeded by Chiswell and Davis.
(Sharf, History of Western Maryland, 1882, this edition Balto. 1968,
page 737). G. M. Hopkins' Atlas of Montgomery County, Maryland, 1879,

See Continuation Sheet No. 4
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. . HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

shows Belt's store as the site of the Beallsville Post O?fice, thus
Belt would have been postmaster of that town before coming to
Gaithersburg.

The date of Belt's arrival in Gaithersburg is unknown, as is
the location of his first place of business. However, we know that
his store was in operation by April of 1879 through the Montgomery
County Sentinel which reported on April 18, 1879, that '"'thieves at
Gafthersburg" had robbed the John Belt Store. Belt's first land
purchase at Gaithersburg was recorded in April of 1879 also. This
property was purchased from William Hutton and is believed to be
shown on the 1894 map on East Diamond Avenue, one lot from the bank.

In 1884 and 1886, Belt purchased more land on East Diamond
from Hutton. The homes of Belt and of his mother-in-law, Mary
Anderson, were built on two of these lots; however, none of these
l1ands were within the town limits of Gaithersburg and, therefore,
Belt was not a legal resident and could not vote, hold office, or
influence town affairs. Thus, on February 20, 1888, a motion was
recorded in the town minutes ''to appoint a committee to take into
consideration the extension of the Corporation limits as prayed
for by Mr. John A. Belt and others.” The annexation was made and
Belt gained a voice in civic affairs.

Assured then that he would have some control over roads, etc.,
Belt proceeded to purchase a number of properties on the southwest
side of Diamond and Summit Avenues from J. S. Poole in the early
part of 1889. The Fall of 1889 found Belt constructing a new
store on one of his newly acquired properties, the site of the
present building. The Sentinel of September 6, 1889, notes his

progress under the heading "Gaithersburg Improvements."

"My. John A. Belt, a leading merchant of Gaithersburg,
has commenced the erection at that place of a large
store~house. The building will be 36 x 52 feet and two
stories high. The store-room will have a dimension of
25 x 52 feet, with a ware-room adjoining 11 x 52 feet.
The second story will be used as a public hall, and the
building, when completed, will be one of the largest in
the county. Mr. George Meem has the contract for the
carpenter's work and Mr. J. T. Martin for the painting.
The estimated cost of the building is about $3,000."

See Continuation Sheet No. 5
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: HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

This store and its public hall, known as Norman Hall, immediately
became the pivotal structure of Gaithersburg's social, cultural,
and governmental activities. With his business established and
comfortably situated in its new quarters, Belt began to assume a
more prominent role in civie, fraternal, and town affairs.

Previously, in 1885, Belt had been appointed Postmaster. With
his appointment, the two offices serving the area, Ayres, located
in the railroad depot, and Gaithersburg, in Ward's store on Frederick
Avenue, were consolidated and moved to Belt's old store near the
depot. Belt held the office from 1885 to 1890, then again from 1893
to 1897. Thus, it can be presumed that the new building's first
public function was as the Post Office.

Shortly after, it assumed another public function: town hall
and polling place. In May, 1890, Belt exercised his recently
received right and ran for town commissioner. He tied with a
prominent doctor in town, and a run-off election was held, of
which Belt was the winner. As usual, the poll was held in Norman
Hall which served as the town hall and polling place until the fire
in 1903. He was reelected in 1892 for the second time, receiving
a second highest number of ballots cast. Much mention of J. A.
Belt's presence is made in the commission minutes and he was involved
in many different aspects of the town's affairs. He enjoyed a
perfect attendence record at all town meetings and served as
president pro tem on several occasions. His most prominent work
was with tax, financial, and roadway matters.

» Norman Hall rapidly became the social and cultural center of
Gaithersburg. Belt himself was a member of the Waverly Literary
Society which met in Norman Hall beginning in January of 1890.
The Waverly Club Library was famous for the number and depth of
its holdings beginning in 1890 with 327 volumes and increasing by
1894 to 1,000 volumes.

The Hall was unique in Gaithersburg in that it had a stage.
As such, it was the preferred location of theater, lectures,
recitals, musical presentations and high school graduations. For
example, on January 17th the noted humorist Prof. Hawks lectured at
Norman Hall. (Sentinel, 1/12/94) and on February 22nd, the Knights
of Pythias gave a dramatic entertainment, "Ten Nights in a Bar-Room."
(Sentinel, 2/16/94). Also, in 1894, Miss Minnie Smith's pupils gave

See Continuation Sheet No. 6
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

a musical recital in Norman Hall. (Sentinel, 5/15/94). Ig June,
the ladies of the Ascension Church gave a Strawberry Festival at
Norman Hall (Sentinel, 6/1/94) and the next week the Hon. John B.
Gordon delivered his famous lecture, "The Last Days of the Confed-
eracy," at Norman Hall (Sentinel 6/8/94). When the Jeffergoq .
Literary Society was founded in 1898, it also used the facilities
at Norman Hall for its public events.

Among the many programs presented at Norman Hall through the
years, the '"Grand Concert" of September 29, 18?0, stands out. Tbe
program features ''the grandest musical entertainment ever given in
this vicinity," but is remarkable to the modern reader in that the
announcement noted that the '"Local train leaving Washington at
7 p-m. will arrive in time for the concert and at close of the' .
concert a special train will start for Washington and way stations
(Sentinel, 9/26/90).

Belt played host in 1890 to the newly formed "Democrats of
Gaithersburg District Club.'" The group organized with 30 members
to be called the McKaig Democratic Tariff Reform Club of Gaithers-
burg of which Belt was elected treasurer. Later in October, McKaig
spoke to the club and others at Norman Hall (Sentinel, 9/10/90;
Sentinel, 10/17/90).

But, Belt's finest moment as host was to the Fraternal Order
which seems to have epitomized all of the merchant's civic, fraternal,
and cultural activities .... Pentalpho Lodge No. 194 of the Masons.
The Masonic order had been formed in Norman Hall on July 7, 1893,
with John Belt accepting the office of Junior Warden. Belt was an
avid supporter of the Lodge, serving in many capacities and as
Worshipful Master in 1897. 1In 1896, to fulfill a lost election
wager, Belt gave a banquet in "the Town Hall" (Norman Hall)
consisting of seven courses with toasts to sixty guests. Among the
diners were delegations of prominent Masons from Washington and
Rockville. Belt was presented with a gold cigar for his gesture
(Sentinel, 12/4/96).

It was this loyalty, accompanied by a generous spirit, that
moved Belt when the Masonic Lodge was hit by lightning in May 1898
and much of the paraphernalia and lodge property destroyed. Belt
family tradition has it that John A. Belt donated the sum of $1,500
towards the building of a new free-standing Masonic Hall which would
accommodate Lodge functions and serve as a public assembly place.
Unfortunately, Lodge records to substantiate this claim have been
lost, but the Sentinel reports on December 15, 1899, that "A large

hall building 50 x 100 feet is being erected at Gaithersburg by

See Continuation Sheet No. 7
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

John A. Belt." This item was followed on December 29, 18?9, by an
account of the laying of the cornerstone of the new Masonic Hal% at
Gaithersburg. This seems proof that the family tradition in this
case was accurate.

Perhaps it was Belt's generosity and civic spirit, coupled
with misfortune, that led to his decline as a Gaithersburg merchant.
Belt's déscendants have related his practice of giving credit to
those in need and of writing off the debts of wvictims of ill luck.
His own resources were strained in 1903 with the destruction of
his business by fire.

The Sentinel reported that "The large mercantile establishment
of Mr. John A. Belt on Diamond Avenue, this county, was destroyed
by fire on Monday last" (9/18/03). The owner was in Westminster
when the fire began in a stock of brooms in the ware-room. The

I flames soon spread to some stocks of o0il and fammables, then to a
large stock of ammunition. The employees of the store were driven
out by the exploding ammunition and had to leave the building
without saving any property, goods, or business records. The loss
was estimated at twelve thousand dollars, only partially covered
by insurance.

No record exists of the extent of the damage to the actual
building. Available information suggests that the basic exterior
structure of the "1903" building is similar to that of the 1889
structure and that a portion of the present building is the original
fabric of 1889.

It has been observed by an architectural consultant that the
entire west wall of the building is constructed of one brick as
one fabric with no broken courses, excepting window openings. The
brick on the east, or ware-room side, is inferior quality brick,
unlike that used on the east and front, and of different courses.

It should also be noted that the exterior measurements of the
1889 building, 36 x 52, (@s noted in the newspaper item mentioned
above) are substantially the same as those shown in the measured
drawings done in 1983 (40 x 56). Belt's measurements in his sale
ad of 1914 (51 x 72) are dissimilar, but are probably erroneous

See Continuation Sheet No. 8
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: - HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

since the present building is the same one sold. The assumption is
that major rebuilding occurred on the ware-room east wall Where the
fire was most intense and on the front, where a pressed-brick facade

1s present.

Most importantly, no building permit was issued to rebuild the
store as was usual practice. In the case of a May, 1903, fire.
which destroyed the fertilizer warehouse of the Gaithersburg Milling
and Manufacturing Company, and the house of C. F. Hogan, both
owners applied for and were granted permits to rebuild, "On site of
one recently destroyed by fire.'" This suggests that the destruction
of Belt's 1889 building was less than total.

In October of 1902, the Commissioners of Gaithersburg decided
to "pike" (grade and pave with crushed rock) Diamond Avenue from
the Post Office (at the hotel) east as funds would permit. "In
front of Belt's store pike to be 20 feet wide, the balance to be
18 feet." On June 6, 1904, the minutes record the request of
Mr. John A. Belt to remove about 8 inches of the roadbed in front
of his store. On June 14, the Corporation moved to "move all
roadbed on Mr. Belt's property in front of his store. The secretary
was instructed to notify Mr. Belt to remove all old bricks from the
street in front of his store."

These bricks are later found to be the property of the Gaith-
ersburg Milling and Manufacturing Company and the same ordered to
remove them from in front of Belt's store or they would be arrested
and fined for obstructing streets. However, it appears that Belt's
store was in its same location and he was concerned with access
to his business in the spring of 1904.

Unfortunately, Belt never recovered financially from the loss
of his stock and damage to his property. In 1904, a deed of trust
to Wm. Talbott was applied to all of Belt's properties. The
Sentinel of June 17, 1904, said, "Mr. J. A. Belt, the oldest
established merchant in Gaithersburg, this county, voluntarily
executed a deed of trust to Atty. Wm. H. Talbott on Wed., for the
benefit of his creditors. It is stated that available assets
amount to $20,000, while the liabilities will reach only $8,000.
Last September, Mr. Belt sustained a heavy loss in the destruction
of his establishment by fire."

After this time, Belt's properties were never free of encum-
brances, and finally, the store was sold in 1914. Belt was not
operating a store on the premises at the time of the sale.

See Continuation Sheet No. 9
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT (continued)

Marshall Walker managed his business at the location until 1914
when the building was offered for sale at auction on March 21, 1914.
The structure was described as a '"handsome pressed brick-front store
property, located on the corner of Diamond and Summit Avenues,
Gaithersburg, Montgomery County, Maryland. This building is 51 x 72
feet, two stories, and built of the finest material throughout,
heated by a hot air furnace (Sentinel, March 20, 1914).

The building was sold to George F. Linthicum for the sum of
$8,100, stock not included, an extremely high price for the times
(Sentinel, 4/6/1914).

Linthicum operated the store for a time, then it was sold to
J. Forrest Walker and Clay Plummer. Plummer left the company and
Forrest was joined by his cousin, Marshal, Belt's former manager.
The Walker store continued until the early 1950’s. After 1921,
the Post Office lost its quarters and was installed in the main
area of the Belt Building to remain as the hub of a small town

without door-to-door mail delivery until a new office was built
in 1950.
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* ° YERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Being a description of a parcel of land located in Gaithersburg,
Maryland, more particularly described as the J. A. Belt property,
997 East Diamond Avenue, bounded as follows:

1. Beginning at a point on the south side of East Diamond Avenue,
said point being the common corner of the J. A. Belt property
and the Anthony Bonnano property, as recorded in
Liber 2838 at Folio 165;

2. thence running with the south line of the East Diamond Avenue,
N 86 degrees 45' 00", 35.53 feet, to a point;

3. thence N 12 degrees 07' 00" E, 3.25 feet, to a point; = -

4. thence S 77 degrees 53' 00" E, 41.10 feet to a point on the
west side of South Summit Avenue;

5. thence with the west line of South Summit Avenue, S 12 degrees
07' 00" W, 101.11 feet to a point, said point being the
intersection of the west line of South Summit Avenue and the
north line of a 15' public alley;

6. thence with the north line of the 15' public alley, N 86 degrees
51' 00" W, 52.35 feet to a point, said point being the common
corner of the J. A. Belt/Anthony Bonnano properties and the
north line of the 15' public alley;

7. thence with the common line of the Bonnano property and the
J. A. Belt property, N 03 degrees 43' oo" W, 9236 feet to the
point of beginning.

The described property contains 5769 square feet or 0.13244 acre.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The present property boundaries are proposed in this
nomination. More extensive original property was long ago sold-
off and commercially developed. The nominated property, 0.13244
" acre, comprises the single city lot upon which the resource stands.
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- hational . State _X jocal

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
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There may be private inholdings within the boundaries of
the’ National or State reservations shown on this map

Area covered by dashed light-purple pattern is subject to controlld
imundation
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The J. A. Belt Building

227 East Diamond Avenue, Gaithersburg, Maryland
James Sengstack

05 December 1983

Gaithersburg City Hall

Northwestern elevation, photographer facing southeast
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The J. A. Belt Building

227 East Diamond Avenue, Gaithersburg, Maryland
James Sengstack

05 December 1983

Gaithersburg City Hall

N/orthern elevation, photographer facing south
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The J. A. Belt Building

227 East Diamond Avenue, Gaithersburg, Maryland
Trudy Walton

09 January 1984

Gaithersburg City Hall

Leaded Glass Window
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The J. A. Belt Building

227 East Diamond Avenue, Gaithersburg, Maryland
Trudy Walton

09 January 1984

Gaithersburg City Hall

Interior of Belt Building
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BELT BUILDING

Montgomery County,Marvland

Photo: Trudy Walton

Neg loc: City Hall, Gaithersburg, MD
27 February 1984

northeast elevation of building
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BELT BUILDING

Montgomery County, Maryland

Photo: Unknown, courtesy of Montgomery
County Historical Society

Neg loc: City Hall, Gaithersburg, MD

c.1910

northeast elevation of building
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BELT BUILDING

Montgomery County, Maryland

Photo: Unknown, courtesy of Montgomery
County Historical Society

Neg loc: City Hall, Gaithersburg, MD

Unknown

northeast elevation of building
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